# THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA No. 69456-1-1

CHARLES MOMAH, Appellant,

٧.

WASHINGTON CASUALTY COMPANY/BARBARA MCCARTHY, Defendants.

OPENING BRIEF

Charles Momah, MD. 888910, Unit HBO3-4L Coyote Ridge Correctional Center P.O. Box 769, Connell, WA. 99326

##

I. INTRODUCTION
II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. ARGUMENT6
V. CONCLUSION41

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE OF WASHINGTON
1. Am. Best Food Inc.v. Alea London Ltd.,168 Wn.2d. 398
229 P. 3d. 693 (2010)3
2. Australia Unlimited Inc. et. al. v. Hartford Casualt
Insurance Company et. al., 147 Wn. App. 758;198 P.3d.514
2008 Wash. App. LEXIS 2872
3.Barrie v. Hosts of Am. Inc., 94 Wn.2d. 640,642;618 P.2d
96 (1980)39
4. Board of Regents v. Seattle, 108 Wn. 2d. 545;741 P.2d.11
(1987)
5. Butler v. Joy, 116 Wn. App. 291;65 P.2d. 671;2003 Wash
App. LEXIS 44014,16
6. Cambridge Town Homes LLC et. al., v. Pacific Roofing
Inc. et.al., 168 Wn. 2d. 475;209 P. 3d. 863;2009 Wn. LEXIS
62525
7. Eagle Pacific Insurance Company v. Christense Motor
Yacht Corp. et. al., 132 Wn.2d.894;959 P.2d.105;1998 Wash.
LEXIS 57026,27
8. Edmundson et.al., Plaintiffs, v. Ivan G. Popchoi et.al.,
Respondents, National City Mortgage et. al., Defendants,
Csaba Kiss, Petitioner, 256 P. 3d. 1223; 2011 Wash. LEXIS
59734

9. Edmundson et.al. v. Popchoi et.al.,155 Wn.App.376;228
P.3d. 780;2010 Wash. LEXIS 68632
10. Gallagher et.al., v. Sidhu et.al., 126 Wn.App. 913;109
P.3d. 840; 2005 Wash. App. LEXIS 35323
11. George v. Parke-Davis, 107 Wn.2d. 584;733 P.2d. 507;
1978 Wn. LEXIS 104025
12. John as Receiver of the Pioneer Fire Insurance Company
v. Arizona Fire Insurance Company et.al., 76 Wash. 349;136
P.120,125; 1913 Wash. LEXIS 181827
13. King et. al. v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn.2d. 420;47
P.3d. 563; 2002 Wash. LEXIS 37910,12,13,16
14. Kruger Clinics Orthopedics et. al., v. Regence
Blueshield, 157 Wn.2d. 290;138 P.3d. 936; 2006 Wash.LEXIS
53731
15. Leighton et. al. v. Urology Northwest PS. et.al.,2006
Wash.App. LEXIS 183835,36
16. Lybberts et.al. v. Grant County, 93 Wn.App. 627;969
P.2d. 1112; 1999 Wn.App. LEXIS 10214,42,43
17. Lybberts et.al. v. Grant County,141 Wn.2d. 29;1 P.3d.
1124; 2000 Wash. LEXIS 37910,11,12,13,14,17
18. Martin v. Abbots Labs., 102 Wn.2d. 581; 689 P.2d.368;
1984 Wn.App. LEXIS 109427
19. Meade v. Thomas, 152 Wn.App. 490; 217 P.3d. 785,787;

2009 Wash. LEXIS 208642
20. Meisel v. M&N Hydraulic Press Company, 97 Wn.2d.403;
645 P.2d. 689; 1982 Wn. LEXIS 138824,27
21. Neel v. Port of Seattle Federal Credit Union et.al.,
2007 Wash. App. LEXIS 165217
22. Or Auto. Insurance Co. v. Saltzburg, 85 Wn.2d. 372,
376-77; 533 P.2d. 816 (1975)38
23. Pederson v. Dep't of Transp., 43 Wn.App. 413;717P.2d.
773 (1986)21
24. Raymond v. Fleming, 24 Wn.2d. 112;699 P.2d.614;1979
Wash.App. LEXIS 273214,16
25. Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr. et.al., 164 Wn.2d.
261; 189 P.3d. 753; 2008 Wash. LEXIS 75820
26. Romjue v. Fairchild, 80 Wn.App. 278;803 P.2d. 57(1991)
14,15,16
27. Seven Gambles Corp. v. MGM/UA Entm't Co., 106 Wn.2d.1,
13; 721 P.2d. 1 (1986)39
28. Travelers Insurance Co. v. Gregory et.al., 1998 Wash.
App. LEXIS 1517
29. Uwem Usoro et. al. v. Charles Helm et.al., 2011 Wash.
App. LEXIS 241539
30. Volker v. Joseph, 62 Wn.2d.429; 383 P. 2d. 301 (1963)

31. West Coast Pizza v. United National Insurance Company,
Policy XTP0079005, 106 Wn.App. 33;271 P.3d. 894(2011)37
32. Young v. Key Pharm. Inc., 112 Wn. 2d. 216,225; 770
P. 2d 182 (1989)39
STATUTE STATUTES
1. Chapter 11.88 RCW20
2. CR56(c)39
3. RCW 4.16.19019,20,21,22
4. RCW 4.16.35020
5. RCW 38.58.09021
6. RCW 48.01.03038
7. RCW 48.32.01023
8. RCW 48.43.05530
9. WAC 284-30-334(4)34
10. WAC 284-43-32230
11. Washington Insurance Guaranty Act23
OTHERS STATES
1. Arizona Rev. Stat. 20-612,20-61431
2. Burton v. Northern Duchess Hospital, 106 F.R.D 477
S.U.N.Y (1985)

# FEDERAL CASES

1. Bagley, 923 F.2d. at 726 & n.4
2. Bianchi v. Bellingham Police Dep't., 909 F.2d.1136,9th
Cir. (1990)21
3. Bianchi v. Kincheloe, 714 F. Supp. 443;1989 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 675822
4. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S.317,322-23;106 S.Ct.
2458 (1986)39
5. Hays v. Spokane, 2011 U.S. Dist. 11842421
6. McCarran-Ferguson Act31
7. Sobn v. American Family Insurance Co. et.al., 755
F. Supp. 852; 2010 U.S Dist. LEXIS 1343533
8. U.S. Financial Corp. v. Warfield, 839 F. Supp. 684;
1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1734031
9. Watkins v. Buss et.al., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6937621

#### 1. INTRODUCTION.

This appeal is about whether an insurance company's violation of a binding contract with its insured can be excused simply because the company insolvent and under receivership. The trial court dismissed the breach of contract by Washington Casualty Company (WCC) even though WCC conceded the violation, the only reason for dismissal being that WCC is in receivership.

#### II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR.

- (a) When an insurance company violates a binding contract between the company and the insured, is the company not held liable simply because the company is in receivership?
- (b) Did the Superior Court abuse its discretion by dismissing this lawsuit when WCC acknowledged and conceded a breach of contract by settling claims without the consent of the insured and without adequate investigation in violation of a binding contract that explicitly states that no claims shall be settled without the consent of the insured? Moreover a Temporary

#### Page MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

Restraining Order (TRO) was filed by Dr. Momah, the Appellant in an attempt to stop the violations at issue in this appeal.

- (c) The trial court abused its discretion by dismissing the Consumer Protection Act (CPA) and the Bad Faith claims since the statute of limitations were preserved by:
- (1) the waiver of the defense of insufficient service of process and statute of limitation by WCC's dilatory activity of untimely assertion of that defense and "trial by ambush" when WCC waited for almost one year to assert a known defense after the statute of limitations expired. By failing to assert a known defense and deliberately waiting for the expiration of the statute of limitations and claiming insufficient service of process, WCC waived that defense for the CPA and Bad Faith claims. (VRP at page 19, 6-14).
- (2) The tolling statute of RCW 4.16.190 by reason of personal disability of incarceration. This tolling statute is recognized by Washington State Supreme Court. It is also recognized by the United States Supreme Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Superior Court made several rulings in this case. On February 3, 2012, the court dismissed the CPA and Bad Faith claims based largely on the statute of limitation but reserved judgment on the Breach of Contract claims for May 25, 2012. Dr. Momah's motion for reconsideration was denied despite the fact that claim was still within the statute of the CPA limitation - May 2011, when the lawsuit was filed on December 17, 2010. The Bad Faith claim was either tolled or WCC waived that defense by their dilatory activity of not asserting that defense until the statute of limitation had expired. WCC's attorney Mr. James King filed a notice of appearance on January 11, 2011. (VRP at page 17, 4-7). On May 25, 2012, the Superior court dismissed the Breach of Contract claim. The court made that ruling even though WCC conceded the violation of the contract states that cannot settle claims without the consent of the insured, the Petitioner. The court ruled that WCC was not liable simply because WCC was in receivership. The court even acknowledged that Breach of contract

Page 3 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

was within the statute of limitation. (VRP at page 37, 8-12). The court reserved judgment of the remaining claim for September 14, 2012 which the court dismissed for lack of coverage, which the Petitioner is not contending, and not part of this appeal. Thus, on September 14, 2012 the court's decision became final. Copies of these decisions have already been sent to this court.

As explained to the Superior court, the Petitioner was sued by several former patients who alleged medical negligence and improper physical examinations, while claiming that there were no chaperones. Dr. Momah provided the court with affidavits and declarations from the medical assistants who were present during the examinations. All the allegations pertaining to these civil suits and criminal case arose after a private attorney, Mr. Harish Bharti had gathered complainants when he surreptitiously obtained the Dr. Momah's office patient masterlist from an office staff from which he recruited scores of plaintiffs. These lawsuits were filed by Mr. Bharti in 2003.

Page 4 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

WCC failed to investigate and defend these claims, preferring to indemnify because WCC made a financial calculation that it was cheaper to do so, and failed to secure the consent of the insured as the contract dictates, thereby breaching the contract. Importantly, Dr. Momah filed a TRO on October 25, 2005 to block the settlements but WCC went ahead and settled the claims. The contract the Petitioner signed with WCC states that "however no settlement shall be made of any CLAIM or SUIT without the agreement of the NAMED INSURED". (Appendix B - Insurance contract at Def-1. Paragraph B of the DEFENSE, SETTLEMENT, SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENT AGREEMENT). This "phrase" is repeatedly stated in the contract agreement. The failure to investigate and defend these claims implicate Bad faith and CPA violations. The Petitioner filed a TRO to enjoin WCC from settling these claims, asserting that WCC had no right to settle any claims "without his agreement". WCC settled the claims in May 2006 and May 2007.

The Petitioner presented to the trial court that the six year statute of limitation for Breach of Contract

Page 5 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

extended to May 2012 and May 2013. The trial court agreed that the breach of contract is preserved. (VRP at Page 37, 8-12). The court struggled with the statute of limitation of the CPA violation (VRP at page 36, 1-3) as well as the role of receivership. (VRP at page 21, 6-14). But the court never considered the "dilatory activity" of WCC and the tolling statute of RCW 4.16.190 implicated in this case which the Petitioner presented to the court. (VRP at page 32, 8-18). The court granted summary judgment on the Bad Faith claim to WCC.

The CPA claim was filed within the applicable statute of limitation - May 2011. The lawsuit was filed on December 17, 2010. The statute of limitation for the Bad Faith claim extended to May 2010. All of Dr. Momah's claims arose during the period of disability, during his incarceration.

The trial court ruled that service of process was sufficient for WCC. (VRP at page 62, 11-23) but insufficient for Ms. Barbara McCarthy. (VRP at page 62, 1-7). During the briefing, WCC conceded that they

Page 6 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

breached the contract but surprisingly stated that they had no choice but to do so because WCC was in receivership and blamed the receiver. Dr. Momah asserted to the court that the dilatory activity of WCC was a waiver: of waiting to assert a defense until when WCC believed the statute of limitation had expired. (VRP at page 15, 21-23). WCC's attorney, Mr. James King filed a notice of appearance on January 11, 2011. Dr. Momah requested for a copy of the contract between him and WCC as well as the settlement amounts and settlement dates but there was no response from WCC and Mr. King. The Petitioner then made the same request of the contract from WCC's Vice President, Ms. Barbara McCarthy on June 24, 2011. On June 30, Mr. King responded stating that WCC and Ms. McCarthy are represented by counsel and should not be contacted directly. Mr. King refused to provide a copy of the contract or the settlements which the Petitioner needed to ascertain what violations WCC had committed and how to defend Petitioner's interests.

On July 17, 2011 Dr. Momah propounded the first set

Page 7 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

of interrogatories and request for production of documents. There was no response to these requests. On October 23, 2011, the Petitioner made a CR 26(i) request on WCC's attorney, Mr. King to call the liaison officer Ms. Lori Wonders at 509-543-6800 at Coyote Ridge Correctional Center where the Petitioner is housed, to discuss these issues. On the same day. Dr. Momah made a jury request.

On December 21, 2011, after almost one year after this lawsuit was filed and WCC believing that the statute of limitation had expired, then responded.

Dr. Momah explained to the trial court that WCC's behavior was tantamount to a waiver of that defense for CPA and Bad Faith claims. (VRP at page, 18,15-25, page 19, 1-13).

### IV. ARGUMENT.

WCC stated in their brief to the Superior court:

"WCC faced a difficult decision regarding Mr. Momah - either abide by the contractual agreement with Mr. Momah and expose its insured to an excess judgment and potentially face a claim or settle against Mr. Momah

#### Page 8 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

within the policy limits, even though such a conduct may constitute breach of insurance contract". Page 18, Defendants' Memorandum of Authorities... (Appendix A). This lawsuit was filed on December 17, 2010 but WCC waited until December 12, 2011, almost one year to raise the issue of insufficiency of service of process after the statute of limitation had expired. This delay affected the CPA and Bad Faith claims as the court ruled that the statute of limitation for Breach of Contract was preserved until May 2013. During the intervening period of one year, WCC never stated or alluded that service of process was insufficient. WCC claims it did not participate in discovery, yet there was correspondence between WCC and the Petitioner when he was attempting to obtain a copy of the insurance contract he had signed with WCC. His initial attempt to obtain a copy of the contract from Mr. King failed. The Petitioner attempted the contract directly from WCC's Vice obtain President, Ms. McCarthy. Mr. King failed to understand that he engaged in discovery when he corresponded with the Petitioner, refusing to produce this important piece of document. WCC knew that the insurance contract would

Page 9 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

expose their blatant violation of the contract.

WCC failed to understand that the Petitioner needed a copy of the contract he signed with WCC to properly evaluate what violations WCC committed and how to protect his interests. WCC deprived the Petitioner that opportunity.

Despite the lengthy communication with WCC, they never raised the issue of insufficient service of process. Instead, they were masking their contention that service of process was sufficient and "lying in wait" for what they believed was the statute of limitation to expire before raising the issue for the first time, thereby depriving the Petitioner of an opportunity to cure the defect. (VRP at page 32, 8-24).

This is a dilatory and is tantamount to a waiver of that defense as the controlling Supreme Court cases dictate.

WAIVER BY UNTIMELY ASSERTION OF A KNOWN DEFENSE AND TRIAL BY AMBUSH.

Washington Supreme Court cases of Lybberts et. al. v.

Grant County, 141 Wn. 2d. 29;1 P. 3d. 1124; 2000 Wash.

LEXIS 379 and King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn. 2d.420;

47 P.3d. 563;2002 Wash. LEXIS 331 state that untimely assertion of a known defense is tantamount to a waiver.

#### Page 10 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

The appellate court's decision reversing trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing plaintiff's suit was affirmed. The court held that defendant had waived affirmative defense of insufficient service of process because of delay in asserting defense and failure to preserve defense by raising it in responsive pleading prior to proceeding with discovery. Lybberts et. al. v. Grant County, supra. Pertaining to the issue of applicability of a waiver, a defendant cannot justly lie in wait, masking by misnomer its contention that service of process has been sufficient, and then obtain a dismissal on that ground after the statute of limitation has run, thereby depriving the plaintiff of an opportunity to cure the defect. Lybberts et. al. v. Grant County, at Headnotes.

For nine months following its attorneys' appearance in response to the Lybberts' duly filed summons and complaint, the County gave multiple indications that it was preparing to litigate this case. Only after the statute of limitation has run on the Lybberts' claim did it raise the affirmative defense of service of process. Furthermore, allowing the County to assert the defense of insufficient service of process after the statute of limitation has run would be injurious to the Lybberts because they would be left without a forum in which to pursue their claim against the county. Lybberts, 141 Wn. 2d. at 35-36.

The above infraction decried by the State's Supreme Court is precisely what WCC has done in this case. WCC waited for eleven months, concealing their intentions, then until what they believed was the statute of limitation — October 2011, to spring this defense on the Petitioner. This is a dilatory activity. WCC mistakenly believed that the timing of the TRO of October 2005 was the starting point for the statute of limitation. (VRP at Page 11 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

page 15, 8-14 and 21-23). But the court disagreed with WCC, instead the calculation started when they settled the last cases in May 2007, extending the limitation period to May 2013. (VRP at page 12, 6-13; page 13,17-22). The Petitioner asserted to the court that WCC knew of this defense of insufficient service of process but chose to remain silent.

Dr. Momah: They knew of this defense in January 2011 but decided to wait until now to spring this defense on me. They were aware of this defense and they waited until now. So they waived that defense. The Court: Mr. King, did your client file an answer to this complaint? Did you allege insufficient service of or lack —
Mr.King: We have not, your Honor.(VRP at page 16, line 24, page 17, 1-7).

The Washington Supreme Court again upheld its decision in Lybberts when it revisited the same issue in King.

In Lybberts, we explained, "the doctrine of a waiver is sensible and consistent with ... our modern day procedural rules, which exist to foster and promote 'just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action". Lybberts, 141 Wn. 2d. at 39 (quoting CR1). The doctrine is designed to prevent a defendant from ambushing a plaintiff during litigation either through delay in asserting a defense or misdirecting the plaintiff away from a defense for tactical advantage. Lybberts, 141 Wn. 2d. at 40, King et. al., 146 Wn. 2d. at 424, quoting Lybberts.

The Respondents were tactical in their plan, waiting Page 12 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

for the statute of limitation to expire before asserting a defense they knew was available to them for almost one year. When the statute of limitation expired in May 2011 (CPA), they waited for seven months until December 2011 to assert that defense. This is what the Washington Supreme Court in Lybberts and King said a litigant cannot do.

The County in Lybberts did not answer interrogatories and this court found that failure to do so until after the statute had run waived that defense. Lybberts at 45. Finally, we noted favorably a case from another jurisdiction similar facts, Burton v. Northern Duchess Hospital, 106 FRD 477, (S.D.N.Y 1985). In Burton, the court held that notwithstanding raising the affirmative defense, the service of process challenge was waived because an answer does not preserve a defense in perpetuity, and approximately three years litigation was conduct inconsistent with the asserted defense...The claim filing defense could have been disposed of early in the litigation before significant expenditure of time and money had occurred and at a time when the Kings could have remedied the defect. King, 146 Wn. 2d. at 426.

As the Supreme Court noted in Lybberts and King, WCC's untimely assertion of that defense for almost a year, after significant expenditure of time, cost and energy by the Petitioner until the statute of limitation had run in May 2011 for the CPA claim, and attempting to leave the Petitioner with no forum for his grievance,

#### Page 13 MOMAH V WCC/MCCARTHY

ran afoul of these controlling authorities from the State's Supreme Court.

This Court, the Court of Appeals, Division one, was even more explicit, that a defendant who waits for the statute of limitation to expire before asserting a known right, waives it.

The court of appeals reversed summary judgment for appellee county and remanded the matter for trial because appellee waived its right and was estopped from arguing the affirmative defense of inadequate service of process because it failed to raise this defense until the after the applicable statute of limitation expired. Lybberts et. al. v. Grant County, 93 Wn. App. 627;969 P.2d.1112; 1999 Wn. App. LEXIS 102.

Other opinions from the Court of Appeals are consistent with the decision in Lybberts and King. Romjue v. Fairchild, 80 Wn. App. 278; 803 P. 2d. 57 (1991), Raymond v. Fleming, 24 Wn. App. 112; 699 P. 2d. 614; 1979 Wash. App. LEXIS 2732 and Butler v. Joy, 116 Wn. App. 291; 65 P.3d. 671; 2003 Wash. App. LEXIS 446.

A defendant waives the defense of insufficient service of process by remaining silent after express notice, within the statutory limitation period, of the plaintiff understanding that the defendant has been properly served. Raymond v. Fairchild, supra.

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