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

II. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

A. Standard of Review with Respect to Summary Judgment 
Orders 

A party against home a claim is asserted may move for summary 

judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof. CR 56(b) provides: 

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the 
pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and 
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show 
that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and 
that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 
of law. 

CR 56( c). A motion for summary judgment presents a question of 

law that is reviewed de novo. Denaxas v. Sandstone Court of Bellevue, 

LLC, 148 Wn.2d 654,662,63 P.3d 125 (2003). 

Even though the evidence presented on summary judgment is to be 

viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party (Osborn v. 

Mason County, 157 Wn.2d 18,22,134 P.3d 197 (2006)), when there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact, summary judgment is proper. Id. 
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B. The Trial Court's First Summary Judgment Order Properly 
Dismissed Momah's Bad Faith and Consumer Protection 
Action Claims on the Ground of the Statute of Limitations 

1. Applicable statute of limitations for CPA and Bad Faith 
claims, Momah' s filing and failure to serve. 

The statute of limitations for a CPA claim is four years. RCW 

19.86.12; McKee v. AT&T, Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 399, 191 P.3d 845 

(2009). A bad faith claim against an insurance company sounds in tort, 

and such a claim is thus subject to the three year statute of limitations. 

Safeco Ins., Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 389, 823 P.2d 499 

(1992); RCW 4.16.080. 

The last settlement of the claims against Momah occurred in May 

of 2007. Thus, the four year statute of limitations for a CPA claim ran at 

the end of May 2011, and the three statute for a bad faith claim ran at the 

end of May 2010. Momah filed his Complaint against WCC for breach of 

contract and violation of the Consumer Protection Act on January 28, 

2011, after the statute of limitations for a bad faith claim expired. The 

Complaint was filed before the expiration of the statute of limitations on 

the CPA claim. However, Momah never accomplished service on WCC so 

as to effectively commence his action before the expiration of the statute. 

Accordingly, the trial court properly granted summary judgment on 
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Momah's CPA and Bad Faith claims on the ground of expiration of the 

statute of limitations and insufficiency of service of process. 

2. WCC and Ms. McCarthy did not waive the defenses of 
statute of limitations/insufficiency of service of process 

Momah claims WCC and Ms. McCarthy waived their statute of 

limitations and insufficiency of service of process defenses. For the 

following reasons, Momah's argument is not well taken. 

First, Momah argues that WCC, through defense counsel, engaged 

in dilatory conduct after Momah filed his Complaint and defense counsel 

filed and served his Notice of Appearance. However, the conduct 

described by Momah as dilatory is not supported by any affidavits or 

declarations made part of the summary judgment record. For that reason 

alone Momah's waiver argument should be rejected. 

Even if the conduct described by Momah In his brief was 

supported by the summary judgment record, which it is not, that conduct 

did not amount to a waiver. In certain circumstances the common law 

doctrine of waiver will preclude a defendant from raising the defense of 

insufficiency of service of process and expiration of the statute of 

limitations. Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 38, 1 P.3d 1124 

(2000). A defendant may waive the affirmative defenses if (1) assertion of 

the is inconsistent with defendant's prior behavior or (2) the defendant has 
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been dilatory in raIsmg the defense. King v. Snohomish County, 146 

Wn.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 563 (2002). 

Here, WCC did not engage in any conduct inconsistent with its 

moving for summary judgment based on the expiration of the statute of 

limitations and insufficiency of service of process. WCC never filed an 

Answer to Momah's Complaint(s). The defenses of expiration of the 

statute of limitations and insufficiency of service of process may, 

however, be raised for the first time in a motion. See CR 12(b) and (h). 

After Momah's initial Complaint was filed on January 28, 2011, it 

was not served on WCC. Defense counsel filed his Notice of Appearance 

on August 11,2011. (Docket #9 - No CP). Then, on December 14,2011, 

WCC filed and served its Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 4-6. Before 

moving for summary judgment, defense counsel did not engage in any 

conduct inconsistent with the assertion of the defenses of expiration of the 

statute of limitations and insufficiency of service of process. More 

specifically, neither WCC nor defense counsel engaged in any discovery 

or indicated in any way to Momah that his action was timely or that WCC 

was waiving the defenses of the statute of limitations and insufficiency of 

service of process. 

Momah argues that WCC waiver their defenses by "lying in wait" 

until the statute of limitations expired before raising the defenses of 
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expiration of the statute and insufficiency of service of process. Brief of 

Appellant, page 10. But where a defendant is not served with a copy of the 

Summons and Complaint before the expiration of the statute of 

limitations, query how the defendant can "lie in wait." 

Even where a defendant has filed and served a notice of 

appearance before the expiration of the statute of limitations, he has no 

obligation to raise the issue of insufficiency of service of process in an 

answer or otherwise give notice to the plaintiff before the statute expires, 

as long as counsel does not engage in conduct that might otherwise 

amount to waiver. Illustrative of this point is Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 

Wn.App. 311, 261 P.3d 671 (2011). There, the subject car accident 

occurred on August 2, 2006. On July 23, 2009, the plaintiff filed a 

negligence action against the defendant. However, the plaintiff was unable 

to locate the defendant for service and ultimately attempted substitute 

service under the non-resident motorist statute. After receiving notice of 

the lawsuit, the defendants' insurer retained defense counsel, who served a 

Notice of Appearance on October 15, 2009. The statute of limitations 

expired on October 21, 2009. Defense counsel did not apprise plaintiffs 

counsel of the impending expiration of the statute of limitations. On 

November 2, defense counsel filed an Answer asserting the affirmative 

defenses of insufficiency of service of process and expiration of the statute 
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of limitations. Defense counsel, on the same day, served plaintiffs counsel 

with interrogatories and requests for production, a request for statement of 

damages, and a jury demand. On November 2, the plaintiffs counsel 

served defense counsel with pattern interrogatories and requests for 

production. In early January 2010, defense counsel responded to the 

plaintiffs discovery request. In mid-January, defense counsel issued 

records depositions subpoenas to obtain the plaintiffs medical records, 

and serve them on health care providers. 

On February 10, 2010, the defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss 

under CR 12, citing lack of service of process and expiration of the statute 

of limitations. The motion was granted, and the Court of Appeals 

affirmed, holding that waiver did not apply. 

If the facts of Harvey, supra, do not support waiver, then surely the 

facts of the instant case do not. The statute of limitations had expired by 

the time defense counsel appeared for WCC in August of 2011. And 

defense counsel did not engage in any conduct inconsistent with the later 

assertion of the affirmative defenses of expiration of the statute and 

insufficiency of service of process. 
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3. The statute of limitations was not tolled by any personal 
disability of Momah 

Momah claims the statute of limitations was tolled under RCW 

4.16.190 because of the "personal disability" of his incarceration. 

Momah's tolling argument is misplaced. 

Under RCW 4.16.190, imprisonment IS a form of personal 

disability that can toll the statute of limitations. However, the only 

imprisonment that tolls the statute is imprisonment "on a criminal charge 

prior to sentencing . . .. " RCW 4.60.190(1)( emphasis added). Post-

sentencing imprisonment does not toll the statute. See, Gausvik v. Perez, 

239 F.Supp.2d 1108 (Ed.Wash. 2002), reversed in part on other grounds, 

345 F.3d 813. 

A party asserting he is entitled to a tolling of the statute of 

limitations bears the burden of proof on that issue. Rivas v. Overlake 

Hospital Medical Center, 164 Wn.2d 261, 267, 189 PJd 753 (2008); 

Cannavina v. Poston, 13 Wn.2d 182, 190-91, 124 P.2d 787 (1942). On 

September 15, 2004, King County charged Momah with raping or taking 

indecent liberties with four of his patients, and with insurance fraud. In 

November of 2005, Momah was convicted of rape and indecent liberties 

and sentenced to 20 years in prison. The Court of Appeals affirmed 
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Momah's convictions. See, State v. Momah, 141 Wn. App. 705, 171 P.3d 

1064 (2007), rev. granted, 163 Wn.2d 1012 (2008). 

Here, Momah has not demonstrated that he was incarcerated at any 

time before his sentencing, nor has he demonstrated the length of pre-

sentence incarceration, if it in fact occurred. Accordingly, Momah's tolling 

argument should be rejected. l 

C. The Trial Court's Second Summary Judgment Order Properly 
Dismissed Momah's Breach of Contract Claims 

The trial court's second summary judgment order properly 

dismissed Momah's breach of contract claim because the cases/claims 

against Momah were settled at the direction of and under the authority of 

Mr. Woodall, the receiver, while WCC was in receivership, and neither 

WCC nor Ms. McCarthy can be held liable for the actions of the receiver. 

The second summary judgment order was proper as against Ms. McCarthy 

on the additional grounds that she was not a party to the insurance contract 

between Momah and WCC and was never served with process. 

1. Effect of receivership 

The legislature has vested in the Washington State Insurance 

Commissioner the authority to exercise realistic and meaningful control 

over an insurance company in need of rehabilitation. RCW 48.31.040. The 

J In his brief, Momah makes no argument that he was incarcerated at all before his 
conviction and sentencing. Instead, Momah states on page 19 of his Brief: "Dr. Momah 
has been incarcerated since November 2005." 
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statute authorizes the Insurance Commissioner to "take possession of the 

insurer and to conduct the business thereof. .. " ld. The legislature's grant 

of authority to the Insurance Commissioner is intended to benefit the 

public in general, not simply the insurer or its insureds. Herrman v. 

Cissna, 82 Wn.2d 1,507 P.2d 144 (1973). 

Under RCW 48.31 et seq., the Insurance Commissioner, acting 

through the receiver, enjoys plenary powers in supervising an insurance 

company in receivership or rehabilitation. The rehabilitator is charged by 

statute with taking such action respecting any pending litigation as he or 

she may deem necessary in the interest of justice and for the protection of 

creditors, policy holders, and the public. RCW 48.31.045. A petition for 

rehabilitation, by virtue of RCW 48.31.040, gives the rehabilitator/receiver 

the immediate right to possession and control of all of the assets of the 

insurer and the receiver is charged with administering those assets under 

the general supervision of the court. RCW 48.31.040(4). The receiver is 

afforded immunity from suit or liability under RCW 48.31.115, and this 

immunity extends to the Commissioner and any other receiver or 

administrative supervisor responsible for conducting proceedings. The 

immunity extends to any claims for damages to or loss of property or 

personal injury or other civil liability caused by or resulting from an 
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alleged act or omission of the Commissioner or an employee rising out of 

or by reason of his or her duties or employment. RCW 48.31.115(2). 

In short, the rehabilitation process and appointment of a receiver 

divests an insurance company and its employees of control over the 

insurers assets and the resolution of claims against the insurer. Consistent 

with this, the common law recognizes that, in the absence of a specific 

statute or agreement imposing liability upon them, neither a corporation in 

receivership nor an employee of that corporation are responsible for the 

contractual undertakings of the receiver, or for liabilities arising from the 

torts of the receiver or his employees. See 65 AmJur.2d Receivers §285; 

16 Fletcher Cyc. Corp. §7798; Fryar v. Hazelwood Holstein Farms, 97 

Wash. 78,165 P. 1084 (1917). 

In the instant case WCC had no authority to make determinations 

regarding whether to settle or defend the Momah claims. wce did not 

own the insurance contract or control the administration of the insurance 

contract it previously entered into with Momah. The insurance contract 

and the right to administer it belonged to Mr. Woodall as the receiver of 

the company. It was Mr. Woodall who made the decision to settle the 

Momah claims and he directed a WCCR employee, Ms. McCarthy, to 

pursue and consummate the settlements. Mr. Woodall's rationale for 

settling the claims against Momah was, according to both his declaration 
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and that of Barbara McCarthy (CP 8), prompted by what in his judgment 

was in the best interest of WCCR, its creditors, policy holders and the 

general public. 

In sum, Mr. Woodall was vested with the absolute authority, 

subject to final court approval, to manager and administer the entire 

business of WCC including the administration of its insurance contracts. 

Neither WCC nor Ms. McCarthy can be held liable for the actions of Mr. 

Woodall. 

2. Corporate successor liability principles do not apply 

Without citing any authority on point, Momah argues that 

principles of corporate successor liability make WCC liable for the actions 

of the receiver, Mr. Woodall, now that WCC has emerged from 

receivership/rehabilitation. Respondents are not aware of a single reported 

case applying concepts of successor liability to an insurance company that 

has emerged from rehabilitation or receivership so as to saddle the 

rehabilitated company with liability for the act of the receiver. Obviously, 

the imposition of such liability would frustrate the purpose of 

receivership/rehabilitation, and this argument should be rejected. 
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3. The Court order approving Mr. Woodall's actions as 
receiver cannot be collaterally attached 

Notwithstanding the above, on October 6, 2006, after a hearing on 

adequate notice to all interested parties involved in the rehabilitation and 

receivership of WCC, the Thurston County Superior Court ordered that all 

actions and determinations taken by Mr. Woodall in connection with his 

activities as deputy receiver would be approved and confirmed. The 

Thurston County Superior Court issued its order, which it classified as a 

final judgment, determining that the receivership was completed, should 

be terminated, that the receiver and his agents and employees should be 

discharged and the liquidation receivership proceedings terminated and 

closed. This judicial determination by the Thurston County Superior Court 

conclusively established that all activities taken by Mr. Woodall in 

connection with his task as receiver, including the determination made to 

settle the civil claims against Momah, were in the best interests of WCCR, 

its creditors, policy holders, and the general public be approved and 

confirmed. Momah did not appear, offered no objection and is now barred 

from attacking that determination. 

4. Breach of Contract Claim Against Ms. McCarthy 

The breach of contract claim against Ms. McCarthy was properly 

dismissed because Ms. McCarthy was not a party to the insurance 
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company between Momah and WCC. A contract can be enforced or a 

breach sued upon only against those who are parties to the contract. 

McIntyre v. Johnson, 66 Wash. 567, 120 P. 92 (1912). The policy of 

insurance was between WCC and Momah. Ms. McCarthy was not a party 

to that contract. Accordingly, the breach of contract claim was properly 

dismissed. 

5. Lack of Service of Amended Complaint on Ms. 
McCarthy 

The claim against Barbara McCarthy was properly dismissed 

because she was never served with process. RCW 4.28.080(15) requires 

service of process to be made by personal service, and service can be 

accomplished by leaving the Summons and Complaint at the house of the 

party's usual abode with a resident therein of suitable age and discretion. 

Id. Personal service of a summons or other process may be made upon any 

party outside of the state, but service still must be obtained by personal 

service. RCW 4.28.180. 

Here, Ms. McCarthy was never served with process. Accordingly, 

the claims against her were properly dismissed. 
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III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, Respondent

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